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Pleased as we are with the possession, we seem afraid to look back to the means by which it was acquired, as if fearful of some defect in our title; or at best we rest satisfied with the decision of the laws in our favour, without examining the reason or authority upon which those laws have been built.


Sir William Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of England,
18th edition, 1823
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INTRODUCTION



In 1968 the eminent Australian anthropologist WEH Stanner pinpointed a serious national problem: a profound silence about the relationship between settler Australians and the country’s Aboriginal people. He called it ‘the great Australian silence’. It had formed among settler Australians, Stanner argued, because there were historical matters ‘we have unconsciously resolved not to discuss with [the Aborigines] or treat with them about’.1


Most importantly, settler Australians had repressed their dispossession of the Aboriginal people by creating a history that denied what Stanner called the real structure of the country.‘All land in Australia is held in consequence of an assumption so large, grand and remote from actuality that it had best be called royal, which is exactly what it was,’ he remarked.‘The continent at occupation was held to be disposable because it was assumed to be “waste and desert”. The truth was that identifiable aboriginal groups held identifiable parcels of land by unbroken occupancy from a time beyond which, quite literally,“the memory of man runneth not to the contrary”.’ This was a matter of history that was well understood by Aboriginal people. ‘In such areas if the Crown title were paraded by, and if the aborigines understood what was happening, every child would say, like the child in the fairy tale,“but the Emperor is naked”.’2


There had only been one moment in Australia’s past, Stanner thought, when settler Australians had abandoned their fantastic claim to be the rightful possessors of the land and acknowledged the reality of Aboriginal title. That moment was the making of ‘Batman’s treaty’ in 1835. ‘It can at least be said for [John] Batman that he acknowledged that the land had possessors,’ wrote Stanner; ‘he also treated with them as principals; he came to agreed terms—an immediate consideration, and a yearly rent or tribute (two ideas which we have not heard of since); and he sealed the bargain by a sign the aborigines understood—eight of them took up handfuls of earth and handed them to him.’This, Stanner believed, was the first and last affair of its kind.‘Thereafter, the principle of the consent of the natives was buried at the very centre of the cult of disremembering.’


The treaty Stanner was talking about comprised two deeds, one known as the Melbourne deed, the other as the Geelong deed. According to John Batman, he had purchased, on behalf of a group of men who formed a company best known as the Port Phillip Association, 600 000 acres of the land belonging to the Kulin nation, the Aboriginal people of the area the British called Port Phillip Bay. The imperial government deemed this to be part of the colony of New South Wales, and it later became Victoria.3


At the time Stanner spoke, he was convinced that settler Australians were beginning to acknowledge the reality that Aboriginal people were in possession of the country before their forebears’ occupation of it. In actual fact, this past had never really been forgotten, even by the settler society. The history of possession it created had been only partially successful in repressing the historical fact that the settlers had stolen the Aboriginal people’s land. A residue of the real had endured, murmuring that the land belonged to the Aboriginal people and had been taken from them without negotiation, without compensation, without apology. In short, the failure of settlers to treat with the Aboriginal people for the land continued to have a ghostly presence. This historical shadow took many forms in the settler society, but among the most significant were the historical narratives that Victorian settlers created about Batman and ‘Batman’s treaty’. They told these stories over and over again, especially in the period from the 1850s to the 1930s. In the sheer repetitiveness of this story-telling, we can sense a history that could not be readily absorbed by the great Australian silence, indeed a history that had come to possess the settler society.4


The legacies of this history of dispossession have been profound for Aboriginal people. Unlike most other British settler colonies, no treaties of cession were struck between the imperial or colonial governments and the indigenous people in the early phases of British occupation in Australia. Consequently, the Aboriginal people were never party to the kind of legal and political arrangements that were made between indigenous people and settler governments in similar colonial jurisdictions. This has meant that there have been no historical treaties for the Aboriginal people to revisit, no dishonoured contracts demanding to be repaired, unlike in North America and Aotearoa/New Zealand. This history has made it more difficult for Aboriginal people to advance claims for Aboriginal title, to seek compensation for loss of land, or to have their status as sovereign polities respected. By contrast, in recent years Aotearoa/New Zealand has seen the revival of a historical treaty, and Canada has witnessed the making of new ones; a treaty relationship or partnership between the settler and indigenous peoples has been formed in both countries; and the constitutional position of their indigenous people has been strengthened. This has helped to ensure that the disadvantage suffered by many indigenous peoples in New Zealand and Canada has begun to diminish.


Yet the focus of this book lies primarily on settler Australians rather than Aboriginal people. This is so for two reasons. First, as a migrant and a settler, I believe I have a responsibility to try to understand the Australian settler relationship to this history better and to tell a story that might help to forge a new partnership between settlers and Aboriginal people in this country. Second, the historical record is overwhelmingly a settler one, which makes it difficult to present Aboriginal historical perspectives of the treaty.5


In the first part of this book, I set out to answer several questions. What led the men of the Port Phillip Association to consider a formal purchase of the Aboriginal people’s land at Port Phillip Bay in 1835? Why did the members of this group call the purchase deeds a treaty? What was the nature of the stories the Association told as they tried to persuade the imperial government in London and the colonial government in Sydney that they should be regarded as the rightful possessors of this land? How did the Woiworung, the Bunurong and the Wathaurung ngurungaeta (or headmen), who allegedly agreed to the purchase of the land on behalf of their sections of the Kulin nation, understand the nature of the treaty-making? Why did the imperial and colonial governments repudiate the treaty or land purchase agreement the Association claimed to have negotiated with these ngurungaeta? And, finally, why did the British in Australia never make any treaties with indigenous people recognising their sovereignty and/or their rights to land, when they did so in many of their other colonies in North America, southern Africa and New Zealand, in the last case (with the Treaty of Waitangi) barely five years after they had refused to accept the Port Phillip Association’s treaty?


My approach to most of these questions has been informed by several premises. To grasp the reasons why the Association made their treaty we must attend to the imperial or Anglophone context of the time. This history was once the focus of extensive research, but since the mid-twentieth century historians have been preoccupied with the writing of histories of the nation. Consequently, colonial peripheries have become detached from imperial centres of influence and from one another, and the important flows of information and people that occurred between Britain and its colonies as well as between the colonies themselves have been neglected.6 Yet it is evident, for example, that the Port Phillip Association’s treaty-making was influenced by the practices of American land-grabbers and the stories told about them, especially the legendary story of William Penn’s treaty in Pennsylvania in 1683. At the same time, it seems wise to adopt a comparative framework in order to shed more light on why Batman’s treaty was repudiated and Aboriginal sovereignty and rights to land were denied in Britain’s Australian colonies.7 In particular here, I compare the British approach in New South Wales to the one they took in New Zealand.


In recent years, many scholars have suggested that the approach of the British to indigenous property rights in the Australian colonies cannot be said to have been determined at the outset of British colonisation by the application of a legal doctrine such as terra nullius, as historians like Alan Frost and Henry Reynolds had argued previously.8 In considering this matter, I believe that more attention needs to be paid to the matter of sovereignty9, which is in keeping with the recent work of legal scholars that has pointed to the radical changes that took place in the early- to mid nineteenth century in the way colonial governments conceived of their jurisdiction.10 Most of all, however, it seems to me that we must look beyond the role played by philosophical and legal discourses if we are to understand satisfactorily the denial of Aboriginal sovereignty and property rights. Although these discourses undoubtedly influenced the ways in which the British approached indigenous jurisdiction and rights to land, they alone did not determine how these matters were treated on the ground. We must focus on the role played by political, demographic and economic factors, and to the interconnections between these forces and the philosophical and legal ones, in order to grasp the relationships of power between settlers and indigenous peoples, which is what really determined the outcomes of the colonial encounter.


In contemplating how the Kulin ngurungaeta understood the Port Phillip Association’s treaty-making, I largely follow an account advanced by the anthropologist Diane Barwick. By widening the net of historical sources to include ethnographic and ethnohistorical ones, Barwick was able to attend to what we might call the oral and visual aspects of the treaty-making, and thereby challenge the dominance of the written or literary sources in representing what the treaty might have meant to the Kulin. In effect, her approach suggested that there were two treaties, a Port Phillip Association treaty and an Aboriginal treaty, although neither exerted any influence on the imperial or colonial governments.11


In repudiating the Aboriginal sovereignty and rights to land that were implicit in the Association’s treaty-making, government officials and judges often asserted that British possession was ‘a matter of history’, which was their way of claiming that the conundrum presented by the Aboriginal people’s earlier presence in the country had been settled already, indeed, that it had been settled long ago. Clearly, this was not the case. There remained a never-completed relationship between past and present, a never-completed relationship between the settlers and the Aboriginal people in this land.


In the second part of this book I discuss the ways in which the settler society of Victoria during the period from the 1850s to the 1930s tried to deal with the moral problem created by its dispossession of the Aboriginal people by producing two historical narratives, one about Batman and the other about his treaty, in which it tried to persuade itself that the Aboriginal land they had seized was rightfully their possession and hence really theirs.12 I address several questions here. Why did settlers remember the treaty and its maker over the course of several generations? Who precisely was responsible for this historical remembrance, and what influenced them? What forms did this work take? And how did these forms of remembrance shape its content?


My approach here is informed by several premises about nations and narrative, which go like this. A sense of legitimacy is crucial to nations since this is what gives them their staying power. All nations have problematic beginnings and have to undergo a transition from de facto coercive power to de jure authority, but this is more evidently the case for settler societies like Australia since their original violence is more recent than that of many nations. The principal challenge to the Australian nation’s sense of itself as morally good has lain in the knowledge that the land was, and perhaps still is, someone else’s, and that it was taken without the Aboriginal people’s consent. Winning possession of the land in the Australian case was no easy matter for settlers because of the resistance posed by Aboriginal nations, but making that possession seem right has been a much harder task, and it has been made all the more difficult by the fact that government has never made any treaties of cession with the Aboriginal people. The work of possession has had to be performed instead by the telling of stories, especially historical ones, which purport to relate a community’s past to its present and to a future.


More particularly, I assume that people become loyal to nations by reading, hearing and seeing historical narratives that are often called myths. Mythic narratives often concern the origins of things, among the most important of which is property or a sense of rightful possession. This is to suggest that these stories often have to reconcile contradictions or paradoxes in a society, and that they have to perform this task in such a way that these problems appear to have been resolved, and especially in a way that is just. In this case, the task of mythic narratives has been to reconcile the fact that communities of people who have hailed from the other side of the world have claimed to be the rightful possessors of this land even though it is obvious that that land belonged to its indigenous inhabitants and had done so for a long time.13


For the most part, I refer to the two mythic narratives created about Batman and the treaty as ‘legends’ rather than ‘myths’. Although these histories are undoubtedly examples of what has been called the invention of tradition, they do have genuine connections to a genuine historical past. Furthermore, in my consideration of these legends I am concerned with demonstrating their enormous power rather than just their fictive nature, which I seek to do by pointing out their moral, emotional and aesthetic value to settlers. Academic historians, who are more inclined to attach weight to intellectual value, ignore the force of these factors at their peril.14


I call the work that these two Batman legends perform ‘remembering’ or ‘historical remembrance’ rather than ‘memory’. As critics like Kerwin Lee Klein and Jay Winter have observed recently, the use of the term ‘memory’ in relation to our contact with the past has become so commonplace that it has been trivialised. Memory is best regarded as a process, not a product, and the terms ‘remembering’ or ‘historical remembrance’ probably indicates this better than ‘memory’. Furthermore, using ‘remembering’ or ‘remembrance’ encourages us to specify who is remembering, as well as when, where and how they are doing the work of remembrance.15


In contemplating the ways in which the past has been remembered in the histories told about the dispossession of the Aboriginal people, I have found useful a typology suggested by the nineteenth-century German philosopher Friedrich Nietzsche. In considering the various advantages of history for what he called living man, Nietzsche argued that history was necessary in respect of man’s need for example and inspiration in his action and struggle, in regard to his desire to preserve and revere, and in reference to his suffering and need for deliverance or liberation. To each of these three needs, he contended, there corresponded a kind of history, which he called, respectively, the monumental, the antiquarian and the critical. These were stances towards history rather than distinct types of history, Nietzsche observed. History in real life tended to incorporate elements of each of these.16


My discussion of the ways the history of dispossession has been told also pays considerable attention to the nature of the forms (or genre) chosen to represent this past since these have had a profound influence on the content of the stories being told. Most importantly, I focus on the nature of history itself as it underwent significant changes in the West during the time considered in this book. Particularly important is the fact that history became a discipline in its own right during the mid- to late nineteenth century. It acquired a set of rules regarding the sources it should use and the way in which it should be told. Above all else, it defined itself as a written enterprise. This meant that indigenous peoples who had an oral rather than a literary tradition could not have a history and could not act as their own historians, or so it was claimed. This change in the nature of historical discourse was accompanied by a profound shift in historical consciousness. As the course of history was deemed to be one of progress, whites arrogantly considered themselves to be the exemplary bearers of it, and claimed that indigenous peoples had no sense of progress and so were not part of the story of history, all the more so because they held that Aborigines had no future, at least as a distinct people.17


White accounts dominate the historical record we have of the ways in which Batman and the treaty was remembered. Aboriginal people undoubtedly told stories about their dispossession as they tried to make sense of the devastation it wrought, but for the period between the 1850s and the 1930s historical traces of these are very elusive, since highly literate Aboriginal people were rare, and surviving written accounts of the past by them are rarer still. There seems to have been an Aboriginal historical tradition of Batman and the treaty, but we only have white historical renditions of this. How the Aboriginal people remembered Batman and the treaty among themselves during this period must remain a matter of considerable speculation.


Much of the settler legend-making I consider took a pictorial form as historical narratives came to be rendered in paintings, drawings, portraits, memorials and commemorations. The influence of images and spectacles on historical remembrance has often been overlooked by academic historians, even though it is apparent that the ways in which particular people and events were remembered in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries were closely associated with pictures. Arguably, images allow people to imagine the past more vividly and to remember it more strongly in turn, and this is especially so when they are relayed in visual rather than written forms.18


I also emphasise the role that historical convention has played in the making, circulation and reception of written and visual narratives and therefore the manner in which the work of remembering has been performed. It can be argued that historical remembrance is largely a process in which particular symbols and rituals come to inculcate certain norms in reference to the past by means of repetition, thereby creating a sequential and self-referential system of signs. In this case, a story about Batman founding the city of Melbourne by declaring or proclaiming a place on the Yarra River to be ‘the place for a village’ is told in a book that comprises a version of his journal; this legendary narrative is repeated at the opening of a memorial or monument to Batman; an artist creates an engraving for an illustrated newspaper in which he envisages Batman’s declaration or proclamation as a scene; another engraver more or less reproduces this picture in a drawing he makes for another book; a poster artist copies it; the designer of a memorial window copies the poster, and so on. Each new telling of the story refers back to the earlier ones and in turn adds something to a common repository of narratives. As this might suggest, narratives acquire power not because they are empirically true but because in the eyes of their tellers and their audience they seem to account for ‘how the world is’ and legitimise it. Furthermore, successful legends become more potent the more they are told, often coming to be regarded as the only way to tell a particular story.19


In the third and last part of this book, which is informed by much the same assumptions as its second part, I consider the enormous changes that have occurred since the 1930s as it became increasingly apparent to settler Australians that there was another way to tell the history of dispossession. Here, I address these questions: How have Aboriginal people and their champions and supporters remembered Batman’s treaty or its makers, and for what purposes have they done so? To what degree has this remembrance been shaped by the settler legends about Batman and the treaty? How and why has their remembrance changed over this period? What influence has this remembrance had on the dominant Batman legends, and how have the champions of these reacted?


In this part, I am able to pay more attention to how Aboriginal people and their champions remembered Batman and the treaty, as there was a huge sea-change regarding the place of Aboriginal people in Australia in the period following the Second World War. In particular, an Aboriginal perspective of the Australian past began to emerge more strongly in the Australian public domain in the 1950s and 1960s. In drawing attention to the great Australian silence, Stanner remarked that it required only the right set of conditions for a historical fact, once overlooked, forgotten or reduced to an anachronism and thus consigned to a supposedly inconsequential past, to become very consequential indeed. He realised this was occurring at the time he spoke—‘the aborigines having been “out” of history for a century and a half are now coming back “into” history with a vengeance’—and that this presaged the rise of another kind of history—a history very different from ‘the conventional histories of the coming and development of British civilisation’. This history was predominantly critical in a Nietzschean sense, and it was often informed by an engagement with new ways of doing history, not the least of which was oral history.20


In the course of the 1970s and 1980s this history-making overturned the monumental histories that had been forged in the nineteenth century. However, it also forged new monumental histories of its own. I chart the rise of these as Aboriginal people and their settler champions sought to refound the nation, either by placing Aboriginal history and culture as the beginnings of Australia or by producing a white history in which Aboriginal rights to the land were recognised by the British during the country’s early years. I also consider the ways in which the rise of these histories made older forms of settler history much less significant. Yet the legends of Batman and the treaty have not died. As I reveal in the closing chapters of this book, the period since the 1980s has seen other kinds of historical narratives rise or return, both antiquarian and monumental. Family historians, museum curators, the executives of multinational corporations and city planners are among those that have found uses for these legends, both old and new. Quite clearly, the matter of history represented by the remembering of Batman’s treaty will never recede.




PART 1
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CONTESTING SOVEREIGNTY




1
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CONSIDERING A TREATY


On the face of it there was nothing exceptional about the treaty that has come to be known as Batman’s treaty. Since the fifteenth century European powers had concluded treaties with non-Christian peoples; throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries they had made agreements with indigenous peoples in South and West Asia, North Africa and North America; and during much of the nineteenth century they continued to treat with indigenous peoples in North America, Africa and the Pacific. Indeed, there were hundreds of such treaties. It could even be argued that treaty-making was the norm.


Yet this treaty was unusual. In legal terms, it was, strictly speaking, just a contract for the purchase of land; in most parts of the British Empire such transactions were not commonly called treaties, and where they had been, as in the American colonies, they were usually made by official representatives of the British Crown rather than by private individuals, as was the case with ‘Batman’s treaty’. In political terms, this conveyancing deed, which was first called a treaty by its own makers, was even more remarkable; whereas many colonisers elsewhere in Britain’s far-flung empire had made agreements to buy the land of the indigenous peoples in an attempt to acquire title, it seems no such arrangements had ever been made in its Australian colonies. In other words, this treaty does present something of a historical puzzle: why did those responsible for it seek to purchase the Aboriginal people’s land when their fellow colonisers and the imperial and colonial governments had merely taken possession of the land as though it had no owners, and why did they represent their deed as a treaty?1


The answers to these questions can be found by recovering both the colonial context, especially that of Tasmania, or Van Diemen’s Land, as it was called then, and the imperial or Anglophone context, especially that of North America, in which these colonisers acted. In doing so, we will see that a considerable range of factors lay behind the treaty that Batman purported to have made with the Woiworung, the Bunurong and the Wathaurung people in Port Phillip, or what became Melbourne, in 1835.


THE PORT PHILLIP ASSOCIATION


To begin, the spatial context of this story must be made clear. This map (see below) shows the extent of white settlement at the time. It comprised a small population, numbering in the tens of thousands, scattered over a vast continent and a couple of islands. The historian Alan Atkinson has described these colonies as the Australian archipelago, a chain of small islands of settlements in the southeast that included much of Van Diemen’s Land, and a cluster of pinpoints centred on Swan River (or what became Perth) and King George Sound in the west. This was all there was. The first Australian colony, New South Wales, founded in 1788, consisted of the surveyed nineteen counties, a half-circle at a hundred-mile radius from Sydney. This was called the ‘Limits of Location’—to ‘locate’ meaning to possess or take possession. This was commonly regarded as the limits of the colony and of the Governor’s authority, although, technically speaking, New South Wales included all of the eastern two-thirds of the continent. In 1835 the New South Wales Surveyor-General, Sir Thomas Mitchell, exploring the area outside the limits, spoke of having left the colony as soon as he reached the unsettled territory beyond it, and had the sense that he and his companions were ‘rather unceremonious invaders of their country’, ‘their’ meaning the Aboriginal people. The British had sought to plant a colony at Port Phillip Bay towards the end of 1803, but they had departed by the beginning of 1804 to colonise Van Diemen’s Land. Now, however, settlers there, looking across Bass Strait, were inclined to imagine that this corner of the mainland was beyond the reach of the British Empire, or at least the colonial government in Sydney, because it was so far from the territory over which its authority effectively ran. Distance has been important in Australian history. It has often been called a tyranny. But in this case it gave the group of propertied individuals comprising the Port Phillip Association a sense of autonomy, which, as we will see, extended to the arrangements they might make with the indigenous people.2
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The limits of the British Empire. At the time the men of the Port Phillip Association contemplated their colonising venture in Port Phillip Bay, the only parts of the Australian colonies that were really in the possession of the British Crown were those marked red on this map. To them, Port Phillip, marked by Melbourne on this map, seemed far beyond the authority of the Governor of New South Wales in Sydney.


The Association’s treaty-making has often been cast as a frivolous and foolhardy gesture by the colonisers who proposed it, most recently by the historian AGL Shaw. This loses sight of several crucial matters: the nature of sovereignty, especially in borderland or frontier zones such as this; the influence of imperial and local precedents for such land-grabbing; and the influence of evangelical Christian narratives about the costs of colonial wars. But before we consider these in any depth, something needs to be said about the men responsible for considering what they called a treaty.3


The purchase of Kulin land was proposed by a group of men, most of whom were in their thirties or forties, who formed themselves into a corporation soon after the making of the ‘treaty’. Most commonly, they called it the Geelong and Dutigalla Association (for reasons that will be discussed shortly), but it has come to be known as the Port Phillip Association. It comprised Henry Arthur, Thomas Bannister, John Batman, John Thomas Collicott, Michael Connolly, Anthony Cotterell, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, George Mercer, John and William Robertson, William George Sams, James Simpson, John Sinclair, Charles Swanston and John Helder Wedge. All but one of these men lived in Van Diemen’s Land, and most of them had done so for some time, although Swanston had experience of India, having served in the British East India Company there, and Bannister had experience of other Australian colonies, having led an expedition between Swan River and Albany in King George Sound. (Mercer, a Scot who had served in the British East India Company before selling his commission to become a merchant in Calcutta, was based in Edinburgh but had become acquainted with Swanston during his time in the British East India Company’s employ.) As we will see, the reasons for the Association’s treaty cannot be grasped unless this common Van Diemonian background is appreciated. It is difficult to conceive a similar group of men in the other major Australian colony in this period, New South Wales, treating with Aboriginal people, at least at this time.4


Nearly all the Association’s members belonged to respectable society in Hobart or Launceston, the largest towns in Van Diemen’s Land. Even the native-born Batman, who probably had the lowest social standing of any member of the group owing to his convict background, was held in some regard by the Governor. A few of them belonged to the colony’s small governing elite or were closely acquainted with its principal administrators; many were, or had been, public servants; and several held or had held positions of considerable responsibility: Arthur, nephew of the Governor, Sir George Arthur, was a customs officer and a Justice of the Peace; Bannister, the brother of Saxe Bannister, once the Attorney-General of New South Wales, had been private secretary to Arthur and was Sheriff of Hobart; Collicott was Postmaster General and a Justice of the Peace; Cotterell was a chief constable; Gellibrand had been Attorney-General; Sams was Deputy Sheriff of Launceston; Simpson was a police magistrate and commissioner of the Land Board; Sinclair had been an engineer and was Superintendent of Convicts in Launceston; and Wedge was a surveyor. Furthermore, several members of the Association, such as Connolly and the Robertson brothers, were merchants, financiers, businessmen or pastoralists of considerable substance. Swanston, as chairman of the Derwent Bank, was an especially prominent figure in this regard. Some of these men invested a considerable amount of capital in a venture in which the purchase of Aboriginal land was central. Moreover, the men who were really important in the Association’s affairs, namely Bannister, Batman, Gellibrand, Swanston and Wedge, represented what has come to be regarded as the most critical components of knowledge and power in colonising at this time—geography (Wedge), law (Gellibrand), Christianity (Bannister), commerce (Swanston) and ethnography (Batman)—and they were familiar with current humanitarian ideals regarding Aboriginal people. All this might suggest that the nature of the group’s approach to colonising Port Phillip was informed by a greater degree of reason than historians have customarily attributed to it, although we should be wary of making too much of the role of reason when we are contemplating the chaotic world of the colonial frontier since the line there between reason and unreason or the fantastic and the real tends to be very thin.5


In many of the critical historical accounts of the treaty-making, Batman has been cast as the key figure, but this distracts us from the fact that several of the Association’s principal members played a more important role in the decision to treat with the Aboriginal people for their land. Batman was the major player in the enactment of the Association’s treaty at Port Phillip (as will be seen in chapter 2), but Wedge was almost certainly responsible for recommending this instrument of colonisation to the Association’s members in the first place; Bannister probably had a major hand in persuading the other members of the Association to make the gesture to buy the land; and Gellibrand undoubtedly planned the Association’s strategy for possession around the treaty and had the conveyancing deeds made up.


A MATTER OF SOVEREIGNTY


The men of the Port Phillip Association knew what they wanted. British demand for wool in the 1820s had made good pastoral land scarce and costly in Van Diemen’s Land, so they were looking for another place to invest their surplus capital and make a fortune for themselves or their children. Port Phillip seemed to fit the bill nicely. However, they were unsure how they might realise their goal.


Just a few years previously, the imperial government had introduced new rules to regulate the disposal of land. Until the early 1830s it had accepted that land could be administered locally rather than centrally, and colonial governments had given an enormous amount of land to settlers and servants and friends of the government, on the basis of their rank and loyalty and the amount of capital they had. However, the imperial government had come to be influenced by classical economists like David Ricardo and Thomas Malthus, and systematic colonisers like Edward Gibbon Wakefield, who argued that an approach to land that was oriented to revenue would benefit colonial development and government, and by evangelical Christians, who expressed concerned about the plight of indigenous peoples on the frontiers of settlement. At the same time, it wanted to limit the costs of maintaining armies in its colonies. Consequently, it called on its colonial governors to restrict the spread of settlement. In the case of New South Wales, settlement was to be prevented outside the limits of location, and all Crown land had to be sold (at auction with a minimum price of purchase set higher than market value) rather than given as free grants or taken by squatters.6


Many aggressive colonisers sought to defy these new rules (which were known as the Ripon Regulations), and land-grabbing became endemic. In 1834 settlers expanded dramatically beyond the limits of location, occupying immense tracts of land in western and northern New South Wales. In doing so, these land-grabbers devised various ruses to acquire land titles and avoid the liabilities incurred by their illegal seizure. Their principal method, however, was possession or squatting. By simply occupying Crown land they hoped to acquire a legal interest. This reflected a claim that possession was nine-tenths of the law, a peculiarly English notion that was given new life on the colonial frontier. The men of the Port Phillip Association could have simply adopted this blatant manner of contesting the government’s authority, but they chose to do more. They wanted to present themselves as being more law-abiding than other land-grabbers, and they wished to clothe their attempt to grab land in a particular legal form. Gellibrand’s legal training probably played a part.7


More than this, however, it seems that these men required the resource of the law in an intellectual sense in order to be able to imagine for themselves the very act of colonising Port Phillip. In 1827 Batman and Gellibrand had applied to the Governor of New South Wales, Ralph Darling, for a land grant near Western Port, southeast of Port Phillip Bay, but he had refused their request (because he was contemplating the abandonment of the settlement his government had founded there the previous year in order to counter a possible French threat to British sovereignty). Thus, in the minds of these aspiring colonisers, the principal obstacle to their wish to grab land was the New South Wales government’s assertion of authority over this area. In their minds this meant they had to conceive of a way of challenging the sovereignty asserted by the New South Wales government over this territory, which is to say that they had to envisage an alternative source of authority for it, whether that be the Governor of Van Diemen’s Land (as an agent of the British Crown) or the Aboriginal people of Port Phillip. The former did not necessitate the making of a treaty (although it recommended this stratagem), but the latter did. Indeed, the act of recognising, or at least pretending to recognise, the Aboriginal people as sovereign was one of the principal reasons why the Port Phillip Association considered making a ‘treaty’. As a commonly acknowledged symbol of sovereignty, an instrument called a treaty provided a legal mechanism that enabled these men to foresee a relationship between themselves and the land they wanted to possess but which was under the jurisdiction of an authority that had barred their colonising venture. Thus, what the members of the Association chose to call a treaty allowed them to conceive, rather than merely justify, their attempt to appropriate the land at Port Phillip.8


In September 1834 Wedge and some of the other men of the Port Phillip Association got wind of the plans of another party based in Van Diemen’s Land, the Henty family, to seek permission from the Colonial Office to purchase land at Portland Bay, west of Port Phillip Bay, where they had been engaged in whaling for several years. (Shortly afterwards, the Hentys sent a vessel across Bass Strait to take possession of land there.) As a result, they seem to have decided that they would try to test the legal validity of a proposal to purchase land from the Aboriginal people of Port Phillip. In a disingenuous letter to Governor Arthur, they concocted two fictions: first, they claimed that a party of individuals (the Hentys) had proposed to take possession of a tract of country at Portland Bay by making a treaty with the Aboriginal people and, second, they alleged that another such party had taken possession of a considerable tract of country in the vicinity of Twofold Bay, a few hundred miles south of Sydney, by simply negotiating a purchase with the Aboriginal people. In the first case, Wedge and his associates were presuming that the area of Port Phillip might not be deemed to lie within the jurisdiction of New South Wales and could instead be claimed by Van Diemen’s Land on behalf of the Crown; in the second, they were assuming that an area such as Twofold Bay, which lay beyond the limits of location, would be held to lie within the jurisdiction of New South Wales.9


It is possible that Governor Arthur had actually encouraged Wedge to raise the matter of jurisdiction (for reasons to be considered shortly) since the two men had recently conversed about the possibility of an expedition to explore the interior of the continent of Australia. At any rate, Arthur referred this to his Solicitor General, Alfred Stephen. At first, the legal opinion Stephen gave seems to be unambiguous: Portland Bay or Port Phillip Bay lay within the jurisdiction of the Governor of New South Wales; therefore Arthur as the Governor of Van Diemen’s Land had no right to try to possess this country. Yet this would not have surprised the men of the Port Phillip Association. They already knew this to be the claim of the New South Wales Governor. They also knew that this did not go to the heart of the matter. What Stephen had to say next did, since he drew attention to the significant disjunction that commonly existed between the claims of government to be sovereign in a borderland or frontier zones of a territory and the actual operation of its jurisdiction on the ground in that area (just as it reflected the fact that the nature of the government’s sovereignty at this time was in a state of transition as it was being increasingly defined by it in a much more territorial sense rather than a jurisdictional one, a crucial matter that will be discussed in chapter 3). Stephen advised Arthur: ‘I find that some years ago, the Government of N. S. Wales fixed the Southern boundary of the Colony, for purposes of settling, at a point which excluded Twofold Bay. I apprehend that such an order, referred only to the authorised occupation of land; and that the boundaries of the Government, as defined by the King’s Commission remain just where they were before.’ Although this opinion insisted on the government’s authority in the broad area in which it claimed sovereignty, it drew attention to the limits of the government’s power in that territory. Consequently, it is not surprising that Stephen proceeded to declare:‘Even if the facts are not as I have thus supposed them to be, I should still conceive the question not to be materially altered. It is a matter of history, that the English Government has possessed itself of the whole of New Holland. I should imagine it be clear, that this possession is sufficiently maintained, without an actual occupation of every distinct portion of the country, on the Coast or inland.’10


The British, as we have noted, had barely occupied any of the territory it had proclaimed as New Holland or as New South Wales. Thus, Stephen’s claim regarding its authority was primarily a matter of the imagination. One could say it was a matter of history that Britain was in possession of this country, but it was evident that this was largely just a story told as part of an attempt to establish British occupation as the country’s future. Government was seeking to use the language of the law in order to make its claim to possession appear natural and real, but to others this authority seemed absurd and arbitrary, as indeed it was, and all the more so when it was considered from an indigenous perspective. At best, its possession amounted to what was called legal possession or constructive possession, rather than what was known as actual possession, so it was not in fact possession at all. Even in the international law promulgated by European powers, the British claim of sovereignty in respect of areas like Port Phillip was vulnerable: claims of discovery and acts of symbolic possession were regarded as insufficient to secure actual possession, so settlement of the land was required. The British government was undoubtedly anxious about its claim to such a large expanse of territory, and its anxiety had only been made worse by having to abort its two attempts to settle the area of Port Phillip (in 1803–04 and 1826).11


Therefore it is not surprising that the men of the Port Phillip Association decided that they would try to contest governmental authority by performing a fiction about sovereignty of their own design. In devising this, it seems the Association’s members envisaged that they might attain their goal of possession in one of several ways: first, they might sustain a claim that there was no British sovereign authority over this territory, and therefore private purchasers such as themselves could gain possession by acquiring land directly from the Aboriginal people; second, the Governor of Van Diemen’s Land might simply be able to claim jurisdiction over the area, thus enabling him to grant possession of the land to them; third, they might be able to force the hand of the New South Wales Governor to allow them possession; or, fourth, they might even be permitted to constitute themselves as a form of sovereign authority so they could authorise their own possession.12


The Association proceeded by pretending that Gellibrand and Batman had been told by Governor Darling in 1827 that Port Phillip was beyond the limits of his colony’s jurisdiction. Shortly after they claimed to have made their treaty, they told Mercer: ‘It is an understood fact, that these Tribes are the actual possessors of the soil, and that although the land is situate within the limits of the British territory of New Holland, yet it is without the jurisdiction of New South Wales, or any other British settlement.’ Given this, they argued, ‘the only ground upon which the British Government can claim any right of interference with the grants obtained from the Native chiefs is by a pure fiction of law, namely that the right of the soil by the imaginary line defining the limits of Australia thereby rests such right in the crown’. The Association continued:‘This line is purely imaginary, for the line extending from the Australian Bight to the Gulf of Carpentaria, has not, in any portion of it, been yet traced by an Englishman.’ This might suggest that the Association believed that their own fiction about sovereignty held the promise of possession. By staging or enacting this story, which conceived of a territory in which the British Crown, or at least the government of New South Wales, had no authority (and in which the Aboriginal people were deemed to have little power), they seemed to have hoped that this would become the reality, creating not only actual possession but also, more importantly, legal possession. This was, it is important to reiterate, an environment in which there was no law of the land in the sense of a powerful authority, but rather a world in a state of flux and thus one of possibilities more than probabilities.13


At least one member of the Association seems to have had serious doubts about this strategy. In April 1835 the hard-headed Simpson suggested to Wedge that he and his fellow adventurers might be simply deceiving themselves. ‘Recollect this very spot of which you speak was settled years back by the Sydney Government—a priority of possession which it will be difficult to gainsay,’ he warned.‘I certainly do not like a country without any law but that of the club or spear altho’ heaven knows we may have too much of the parchment also.’A fortnight or so later, Simpson repeated his reservations to Wedge: ‘I am still satisfied that the difficulties of securing a title to the land in the way you propose are if not insurmountable, yet of so hazardous a nature as to render the plan extremely objectionable.’14


Simpson’s counsel was rejected by his fellow colonisers. This was a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to grab a good deal of land. Their boldness probably owed much to the revolution that was occurring in communication methods and communication skills. As Atkinson has observed, there was both an understanding and a misunderstanding of the power of writing at this time. Newspapers and novels nurtured a demand for stories on the page and a new mental order for all who joined in them as writers and readers. In Van Diemen’s Land, there were many newspapers; indeed, relative to the number of people, few communities can have had so many. Novels, particularly those informed by the spirit of heroic Romanticism, were very popular. Sir Walter Scott’s portrayal of the new man who combined high spirits and boldness with sensitivity and gentleness might have been especially important. The men of the Port Phillip Association appear to have envisaged themselves as reincarnations in a far-flung land of the eponymous Highland rebels in Scott’s Rob Roy, published in 1817.15


The members of the Port Phillip Association were by no means alone in assuming that the New South Wales government’s authority in respect of Port Phillip could be contested. Governor Arthur had long dreamt of extending his rule so that contiguous areas such as this one would come under his control. He appears to have been repeatedly confused about the territories over which Van Diemen’s Land and New South Wales were deemed to have jurisdiction. In January 1835, barely weeks after he had received Stephen’s advice on this matter (discussed earlier), he suggested to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, Thomas Spring Rice, that he could despatch an officer, a small party of troops and the man who had famously negotiated peace with the Aboriginal people of Van Diemen’s Land, George Augustus Robinson, to Portland Bay; six months later, he recommended to Spring Rice that Port Phillip be temporarily placed under the jurisdiction of the courts of Van Diemen’s Land; and in the following month he told Spring Rice’s successor, Lord Glenelg, that he had never seen the New South Wales Governor’s commission and so could not have known whether or not Port Phillip was in Governor Richard Bourke’s jurisdiction. Yet, during the same period, Arthur also told Bourke that he thought there were no grounds on which the Port Phillip Association could expect their treaty to be recognised since, in his words, Port Phillip was ‘first taken possession of by Lt Governor Collins in 1803[,] Messrs Hume & Hovell reached it in their journey, in 1824, & Governor Darling occupied Western Port, which is not more than 15 miles distant from Port Phillip, with a detachment in 1826 or 1827 … so Mr Batman’s pretensions to discovering the Country are quite absurd.’ However, when Bourke issued a proclamation declaring his government’s authority over Port Phillip in August 1835, Arthur queried it and expressed interest in his government establishing some form of authority there. By January 1836 Arthur seemed to have conceded that this area did lie within the limits of New South Wales, but he now claimed that he was unaware of this when Port Phillip was occupied by the Association, indeed that the very opposite was so, and blamed his misunderstanding on the nature of the advice the New South Wales government had given Gellibrand and Batman several years before, although he had stated to Bourke on two previous occasions that he had doubted these men’s claim that they had been informed that Port Phillip was outside the limits of New South Wales. Only a fortnight later, Arthur again revealed his reluctance to accept Bourke’s jurisdictional authority; writing to the Colonial Office’s permanent under-secretary RW Hay, he admitted that he had wanted to take an interest in the settlement of Port Phillip because it was so near Van Diemen’s Land and found it necessary to reassure his superior that he would not interfere with Bourke’s jurisdiction. And, barely two months later, he was asking Bourke whether another part of Port Phillip was within the limits of the government of New South Wales.17
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John Glover, Ben Lomond from Mr Batman’s Ground (c. 1834). Batman’s property, Kingston, lay in the foothills of a mountain named after the lofty peak of Ben Lomond that Sir Walter Scott had featured in one of his historical novels, Rob Roy. This and other similar pictures figuring Aboriginal people were painted by one of Batman’s neighbours, the neo-classical landscape artist John Glover, in the years immediately after the end of the Black War in Van Diemen’s Land. Glover apparently condemned the violence of white frontiersmen, but he did not depict its impact on Aborigines in his paintings. Instead, his interest in romantic imagery predisposed him to represent the Aboriginal people as though they were still pursuing an ancient way of life in some kind of arcadia. At the same time, paintings such as this one did not suggest that the country belonged to the Aboriginal people. On the contrary, they helped to forge a conviction among the colonisers that the land had no owners and therefore deepened their sense of rightful possession.16


At the time, there was speculation about the role Arthur might have played in the Port Phillip Association’s venture. It was even claimed that he was one of their members. It is clear that Arthur restrained his own impulse to test Bourke’s authority by officially sanctioning this colonising venture, but it seems he knew the Association would seek to challenge Bourke’s jurisdiction; he probably encouraged them to do so; he possibly led them to believe that they had his backing; and he undoubtedly hoped they would succeed. Arthur’s approach to the matter of jurisdiction undoubtedly owed much to his considerable ambition; colonial jealousy played a part as Van Diemen’s Land had long been subordinate to New South Wales; and Arthur obviously thought it made more sense for Van Diemen’s Land to administer Port Phillip since it was closer than New South Wales. These points have been noted by historians who have considered Arthur’s behaviour in relation to the colonisation of Port Phillip, but few have grasped the degree to which he was influenced by the factor under consideration here, namely the disjunction between the claims of colonial sovereignty on the one hand and the reality of colonial power on the other. This enabled Arthur to dream of governing Port Phillip.18


THE IMPERIAL AND THE COLONIAL


The Port Phillip Association’s audacious challenge to the imperial and colonial governments’ tenuous authority or sovereignty makes even more sense when it is considered in another context, that of the practices of colonisation in the British Empire and in particular those in its North American colonies. It seems evident that the Association hoped their venture might be granted a similar status to that bestowed on North American colonisers throughout much of the seventeenth century. Between 1606 and 1681 the British government had granted numerous territorial charters and grants to proprietary companies and corporations, which allowed them to establish colonies in Virginia, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and Georgia; and in most of these cases it had delegated governing authority and colonising responsibilities of one kind or another, which meant that the forms of colonial authority were commercial and proprietorial in nature rather than national, and that the matter of where the authority of the Crown and parliament ended and that of the colonial charters began was unclear.19


Would-be colonisers in the Australasian colonies knew the nature of these charters and grants, and they had been reminded of them recently. In the mid- to late 1820s, joint-stock companies were planned to promote investment in several parts of Australia; these ventures were almost considered to be new colonies; and their promoters certainly hoped to create colonies in which governmental authority and power was limited and their commercial opportunities were unfettered. Among those to succeed was the Van Diemen’s Land Company, which had been granted half a million acres. The members of Port Phillip Association knew this. (Intriguingly, they claimed the same amount of land in Port Phillip.) More recently, the British government had granted a charter to the South Australia Colonisation Commission, and it had unilaterally altered the boundaries of New South Wales in order to do so. In the light of this, it is unremarkable that the men of the Port Phillip Association dared to hope that they might realise their ambition.20


Furthermore, the Association’s proposal to buy land from the indigenous people was influenced by similar land-grabbing practices in North America. Before the famous Royal Proclamation of 1763, direct negotiation for land by settlers, rather than government officials, was commonplace. By doing so, speculators attempted to secure a claim to priority to grants from government. In fact, such grants had been made over many years, and some included settlements regarding jurisdiction. Moreover, in more recent times, both before and after the American War of Independence, well-funded speculative land companies, such as the Illinois Company, the Wabash Company, the Grand Ohio Company, the Walpole Company, the Vandalia Company, the Loyal Company, the Transylvania Company, the Greenbrier Company and the Yazoo companies, made extensive claims based on purchases of Indian land or sought to create independent governments in border zones. As the historian John Weaver notes, these frontiers teemed with defiance and deception as land-grabbers tried to gain as much as they could by hook or by crook. Their pretensions were often truly fabulous, but they were seldom regarded as aberrant. Many involved the leading political figures of the day, such as George Washington, Benjamin Franklin and Thomas Jefferson. They refused to be intimidated by the fact that the lands they sought to possess had already been claimed legally by one government or another. Armed with tenuous legal authority, they expended much capital in the hope that their purchases would force the hand of the state and that their possession would be validated.21


In other words, the Port Phillip Association’s gamble was not unusual among land-grabbers in the Anglophone world of recent times. Indeed, treaty-making was one of the principal means by which colonisers staked out an interest. Realising that their grasping designs for possession could be denied by government, they embraced doctrines of indigenous sovereignty in order to proclaim their right to purchase land directly from indigenous peoples, and espoused the right of those peoples to sell it to them directly. Land-grabbers had long been among the most ardent champions of indigenous property rights. By recognising that indigenous peoples were the owners of the land, they were, of course, primarily helping themselves. Most famously, several of these land-grabbing ventures deployed what is known as the Camden-Yorke opinion. In 1757 Britain’s senior law officers, Attorney-General Charles Yorke and Solicitor General Charles Pratt, had delivered an opinion which suggested that in India a grant from the Crown was not a prerequisite to a valid land title and that land could instead be purchased directly from ‘the Mogul or any of the Indian Princes or Governments’; but, some time before 1773, this legal advice had been transcribed in such a way that the references to ‘India’ and ‘the Mogul’ were omitted so that it appeared to refer to ‘Indian Princes or Governments’ in North America. Not surprisingly, companies of speculators seized on this specious opinion to justify their purchasing from indigenous peoples such as the Cherokees. The lawyer Gellibrand would have surely known of this legal opinion.22


The Port Phillip Association’s imagining of themselves as a body that might have the capacity of a sovereign also owed a good deal to their own particular colonial context. Van Diemonian society had a distinctive character that included an independent frame of mind, a suspicion of authority, an unwillingness to accept matters at face value, a disparagement of government and a resentment of its restraint, a rejection of any discipline, a readiness to adapt the letter of the law, and a resourcefulness in the face of adversity. In frontier societies, order is often weak but usually this formlessness recedes, at least in the major towns. In this case, frontier-style conditions remained intact longer and became entrenched. Indeed, they acquired a normative quality.‘Much like custom in the way it contributed to the early development of English law’, the legal historian Alex Castles once remarked, ‘this could find long-term acceptance and expression in the expectations of a community’. It was reflected in the manner government regulated economic and social matters, including the way in which land matters were ordered. Until the mid-1820s official handling of land grants had been at best haphazard; ‘sitting down’ or ‘squatting’ on land was the usual mode of obtaining it; and this practice came to be protected in the workings of the law. As the Tasmanian historian Stefan Petrow has noted, the free settlers resisted any government interference they regarded as arbitrary and unfair, above all in relation to property. In short, many Van Diemonians had become accustomed to a reality in which the authority of government was limited, not least in regard to the possession of land. In the process of settlement of the Australian colonies, government had provided the essential core of public order, so much so that most settlers found it difficult to imagine society without it, but these men did. The peculiar character of public life in Van Diemen’s Land, Atkinson has pointed out, was especially marked in Launceston, the centre for many of the Port Phillip Association’s members. Until 1812 the colony had had two governments, one in Hobart for the southwest of the island, the other at Launceston for the north. In subsequent years, the island barely became a unitary state. Launceston had a self-regarding energy of its own, an almost republican spirit and a resentment of Arthur’s authoritarian government in Hobart and its oversight of Bass Strait.23


Most of the principal members of the Port Phillip Association were also prone to challenge the rule of law for personal reasons. Wedge, Gellibrand and Batman shared a deeply ambivalent relationship with authority, since they felt they had been badly treated by the government of Van Diemen’s Land. Gellibrand had been dismissed from his post as Attorney-General on the grounds of official misconduct, and his applications for land grants had been rejected; Wedge had been passed over for promotion as a surveyor, and the land grants he thought were his due had been refused; and Batman’s hopes to be a conciliator of the Aborigines had been dashed, and his petitions for more land grants had been rejected. These men undoubtedly saw Port Phillip as a place where they would be kings. In their refusal to accept a world that seemed to deny what they wanted, they sought to defy government by contesting the unreal nature of its claims to be sovereign. In some respects these men resembled those trickster figures often found in frontier zones and even more so in fictional accounts of these places. This trait was probably most pronounced in the native-born Batman. Many observers claimed that the native-born tended to be credulous and readily led into error, and that they took the law into their own hands whenever they were obstructed or offended.24


THE COST OF WAR


The matter of sovereignty was not the only reason the men of the Port Phillip Association were impelled to consider a treaty. Treaties had another meaning, namely that of peace-making. On the Van Diemonian frontier there had been severe and protracted conflict between the British colonisers and the Aboriginal landowners throughout much of the 1820s—what came to be called the Black War—and by the time it came to an end in the early 1830s government officials and settlers alike were convinced that the cost exacted by the Aboriginal people’s resistance had been too great for the colony, economically and socially. Indeed, this became a constant refrain. The colonial government’s Aborigines Committee observed that Aboriginal attacks kept Van Diemen’s Land ‘in a continual state of fear and excitement’ and thereby retarded ‘the general advancement of the prosperity of the colony’; and Governor Arthur described the war between white and black as ‘a heavy calamity’ and ‘a bitter scourge’.25


This conviction deepened as many settlers articulated their memories of the Black War. In an autobiographical sketch, Wedge recalled: ‘To such an extent were their attacks increasing—and so great the loss of life in consequence—and in some instances the destruction of property by fire—that a panic prevailed throughout the Colony.’ This way of remembering the war in Van Diemen’s Land prompted many to contemplate how such a catastrophe could be prevented in other colonies, which led some to advocate the making of treaties. When the Association’s treaty-making was reported in Van Diemen’s Land in June 1835, it was welcomed in the hope that it would avert another fearsome conflict.26


On its own, however, it is unlikely that this historical recounting of the cost of the war in Van Diemen’s Land would have led the men of the Port Phillip Association to consider a treaty as an instrument of peaceful colonisation. Other factors were at work. By the late 1820s important discussions had begun to occur in Britain and its colonies over the rights of citizens, the nature of Britishness, the morality of colonisation and the status of indigenous peoples. These peaked in the early 1830s as political changes in Britain, such as the reform of the franchise and the abolition of slavery, created an opportunity for evangelical Christians and liberals to influence government policy. Evangelical representatives, whom historians have often called humanitarians, became increasingly troubled by the consequences of British settlement in the Cape Colony and the Australian colonies. Although they were not opposed to colonialism, they were concerned about its nature and its rationale. In their eyes, Britons were oppressing indigenous peoples by taking their land, killing men, women and children, exploiting their labour, and spreading disease instead of providing for their physical and spiritual needs. As a result, not only were these peoples suffering but British interests were being jeopardised. These evangelical Christians sought to address these problems, and so justify British colonisation, by promoting an agenda that would transform sinful settlers and non-Christian indigenes into moral beings, assimilate both into a civilised community, and make the British nation live up to its civilising and Christianising responsibilities. These concerns were expressed not only in Britain but also in the colonies themselves. In fact, this humanitarian discourse was the product of a network of relationships forged between empire and colony.27 Consequently, Van Diemen’s Land had become the subject of one of the evangelicals’ principal narratives. The rapid decline of the Aboriginal people—indeed their impending extermination at the hands of the settlers—was cast as an object lesson in the dangers of British colonisation. For example, in March 1830 members of the Van Diemonian government’s Aborigines Committee expressed their dismay over the way the rights of Aboriginal people to compassionate treatment had been forgotten, and condemned those responsible as a disgrace to the British name and a Christian nation. In concluding a report to Arthur they expressed the hope that ‘it may be steadily borne in mind, how strict an obligation exists to exercise mercy and justice towards the unprotected savage, and how severe a retribution the neglect of those duties, even by individuals, may ultimately entail upon an entire, an unoffending, community’. And, later that year, Secretary of State for the Colonies Sir George Murray informed Arthur: ‘it is impossible not to contemplate such a result of our occupation of the island as one very difficult to be reconciled with feelings of humanity, or even with principles of justice and sound policy; and the adoption of any line of conduct, having for its avowed, or for its secret object, the extinction of the Native race, could not fail to leave an indelible stain upon the character of the British Government.’28


By the early 1830s, colonisers knew that their political masters were of the opinion that further acts of colonisation should be done with the cooperation, perhaps even the consent, of indigenous people, which meant they had to make plain their moral virtue. This lesson had evidently been learned by those in London seeking to colonise what became South Australia, but it had also been grasped by those in Hobart and Launceston wanting to colonise lands across Bass Strait. Both the Hentys and the Port Phillip Association realised that an approach which highlighted their concern for Aboriginal people would have a greater chance of persuading government to accede to their possession. It was, they hoped, a way of distinguishing themselves from other land-grabbers.29


Once more, Governor Arthur seems to have influenced the strategy the Port Phillip Association adopted in these circumstances. As several historians have noted, Arthur was an evangelical and had earned a reputation for being well disposed to enslaved and indigenous peoples. He was also an ambitious official who never forgot the career he wanted to forge and the rewards he coveted. During his governorship of Van Diemen’s Land he had become increasingly troubled by the course of relations between the Aboriginal people and the settlers, just as he became more and more aware of the growing influence of evangelical, liberal discourse within the Colonial Office. He had tried several peaceful solutions to resolve the crisis provoked by Aboriginal attacks on settlers, but when they failed he had reluctantly sanctioned the ‘Black Line’, a large-scale military manoeuvre that tried to drive the Aboriginal people into a small, more easily guarded area of land. In its aftermath, he felt remorseful about the way the Aboriginal people had been treated and was pained by the stain this had left on his governorship’s record and his country’s reputation. He set out to redeem that situation with considerable vigour. Over the next two or three years, in the course of seeking to extend his own realm of influence beyond that of Van Diemen’s Land, he urged his superiors to take steps in their planning of new colonies that might prevent a repetition of what had happened there.30


TREATY NARRATIVES


The recommendations Arthur put forward to the Colonial Office often included the making of treaties. He had become convinced, he told successive secretaries of state for the colonies, that it was vital to make some sort of an agreement with Aboriginal people at the outset of any new colonising venture. In January 1832, he advised Secretary of State for the Colonies Lord Goderich of the need to negotiate formally the purchase of the Aboriginal people’s land before settlers tried to take possession of it. ‘Had this system been early adopted in Van Diemen’s Land, many deplorable consequences, I have no doubt, would have been adverted,’ he wrote. Arthur repeated this advice several months later in a memorandum addressed to the Colonial Office’s permanent under-secretary Hay. In order to conciliate the Aborigines it was essential that any land the British wanted to occupy should be purchased. It was ‘a fatal error in the first settlement of Van Diemen’s Land, that a treaty was not entered into with the Natives, of which Savages well comprehend the nature’, he claimed;‘had they received some compensation for the territory they surrendered, no matter how trifling, and had adequate laws been, from the very first, introduced and enforced, for their protection, His Majesty’s Government would have acquired a valuable possession, without the injurious consequences which have followed our occupation, and which must ever remain a stain upon the Colonisation of Van Diemen’s Land.’ In September 1834, in the course of a letter to the foremost British evangelical campaigner Thomas Fowell Buxton, Arthur once more expressed his opinion of the need to adopt measures to conciliate Aboriginal people as ‘the first consideration on the occupation of every new country’. On this occasion he made no reference to the instrument of a treaty, but in January 1835 he sought to persuade the new Secretary of State for the Colonies, Thomas Spring Rice, of the benefit of making such an agreement:‘On the first occupation of [this] colony, it was a great oversight that a treaty was not, at that time, made with the natives, and such compensation given to the Chiefs, as they would have deemed a fair equivalent for what they surrendered; a mere trifle would have satisfied them, and that feeling of injustice, that I am persuaded they have always entertained, would have had no existence.’ Barely six weeks later, Arthur returned to the subject, telling Spring Rice:‘The great importance of the subject, and my experience of the calamities which so long flowed from the course adopted in this colony as respects the Aborigines in the first years of its history, will I hope be my apology for again drawing your attention to the measures that are most likely to conciliate the Aborigines of the territory about to be appropriated in Southern Australia.’31


It might be argued that it is unremarkable that a colonial governor would recommend treaty-making as a means of forging a peaceful course of relations between British colonisers and Aboriginal landowners. Treaties had been made by British settlers in North America since the seventeenth century, and the British government often realised on many frontiers in its empire during the eighteenth century that it could secure peace only by making treaties. As the historian Keith Sorrenson has observed, what can be called a treaty language was generally available, ready to be employed whenever one needed to resolve a crisis in relations with indigenous peoples. It is apparent, moreover, that there were other public figures in the Australian colonies who knew treaties had been made in other parts of the empire and that treaties had been recommended in other Australian colonies.32 Yet treaty-making was by no means part of any consensus in the Australian colonies, and this strategy was adopted (as far as we know) only by those in Van Diemen’s Land. Whereas other colonies and other colonisers had been influenced by evangelical discourse, in the case of Van Diemen’s Land many colonisers had also been influenced by the experience of war and the narrative that had been generated about it. Several years earlier, there had been talk in Van Diemen’s Land of making a treaty, but it had been rejected on the basis of a claim that the indigenous people, unlike those in the United States, lacked the capacity to be a sovereign power; after the war, many colonial authorities and opinion-makers no longer ruled out treaty-making on these grounds.33


There can be little doubt that the principal members of the Port Phillip Association were influenced by the story Arthur had come to tell about the value of making treaties with Aboriginal peoples. Their conception of a treaty as a form of agreement that could forge good relations between colonisers and Aboriginal people mirrored his. But, most importantly, the treaty became part of their strategy to possess land at Port Phillip because they assumed (wrongly as it turned out) that this would secure not only their Governor’s endorsement but also that of humanitarians in the Colonial Office.34


Other sources of authority persuaded the men of the Port Phillip Association of the desirability of a treaty. Probably none was more important than that of the Quaker William Penn’s legendary treaty of 1683. The story of this had been told and retold during the subsequent hundred or so years, and the treaty had come to be regarded throughout the British world as the symbol of peaceful colonisation (although most historians today doubt this treaty was ever made or at least not in the manner it has been traditionally figured, namely at one meeting held under a majestic elm in Shackamaxon, near the site of Philadelphia).35
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